IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 24-320

SCA EFiled: Jun 28 2024
01:02PM EDT
Transaction ID 73514254

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF WEIRTON and
CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF
ZONING APPEALS,

Respondents Below, Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER,
SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC

Shawn N. Gallagher
WV I.D. No. 12853
shawn.gallagher@bipc.com
Kathleen Jones Goldman
WV I.D. No. 6917
kathleen.goldman@bipc.com

Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney LLP
Union Trust Building, Suite 200
501 Grant Street
Pittsburgh, PA 15219
(412) 562-8362

*Counsel for Petitioner,
SWN Production Company, LLC*

ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Brook County Circuit Court (“Circuit Court”) abused its discretion by affirming the City of Weirton Board of Zoning Appeals’ (“Board”) decision (“Board Decision”) to deny SWN Production Company, LLC’s (“SWN”) application for conditional use approval (“Application”) to construct a natural gas well pad (“Brownlee Pad”), where the record demonstrates that SWN presented substantial, credible and competent evidence the Application and proposed Brownlee Pad complied with each and every conditional use requirement contained in the City’s Unified Development Ordinance (“UDO”) in effect at the time of the Application and objectors did not present any credible, non-speculative evidence to the contrary.

2. The Circuit Court abused its discretion by holding that the Board Decision to deny the Application was supported by substantial evidence, where objectors to the Application did not present any credible, non-speculative evidence in opposition to the Application.

3. The Circuit Court erred by determining that SWN was not deprived of its right to procedural due process, where both the Board and Circuit Court refused to accept or consider rebuttal testimony and evidence offered by SWN.

4. The Circuit Court erred by entirely disregarding and refusing to consider relevant testimony presented by SWN at the Circuit Court’s hearing to take additional evidence (“Evidentiary Hearing”), where the Court had already determined that the Evidentiary Hearing was necessary because SWN’s procedural due process rights were violated at the Board’s hearings on the matter.

5. The Circuit Court erred in affirming the Board Decision by applying an unduly deferential standard of the review and failing to make an independent review of both law and fact in order to render judgment as law and justice may require.

6. The Intermediate Court of Appeals (“ICA”) erred by dismissing SWN’s appeal of the Circuit Court’s denial of SWN’s appeal of the Board Decision for lack of subject jurisdiction and by failing to grant SWN’s Protective Motion for Transfer of Case to the Supreme Court of Appeals after it determined that it lacked subject matter jurisdiction.¹

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Introduction

This appeal seeks review and reversal of the Circuit Court’s August 16, 2023 decision (“Circuit Court Decision”), which affirmed the Board’s unlawful decision to deny SWN’s Application to construct a natural gas well pad on a large piece of vacant land located in the outskirts of the City of Weirton (“City”). The City has historically maintained a UDO, which purports to regulate where and how and natural gas drilling can occur within the City.

Even though SWN’s Application complied with all of the UDO’s applicable requirements, the Board denied Application. During the hearings to consider the Application and in its decision,

¹ By Memorandum Decision dated April 22, 2024, after the underlying matter in this appeal had been fully briefed, the ICA dismissed SWN’s appeal of the Circuit Court’s decision on the grounds that the appeal involved an “extraordinary remedy,” over which the ICA does not have jurisdiction pursuant to W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(d)(10). SWN asserts that jurisdiction was indeed proper in the ICA pursuant to W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(1) because this appeal arises from an “order[] of a circuit court” in a consolidated “civil case” “entered after June 30,2022,” over which the ICA already assumed jurisdiction. Specifically, on November 21, 2023, in a matter already consolidated with the instant appeal, the ICA held that the City’s ordinances purporting to regulate oil and gas activities were entirely preempted by the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act (“ICA Preemption Decision”). The City appealed the ICA Preemption Decision to this Court, which appeal has now been fully briefed and is docketed at No. 23-753. Notwithstanding SWN’s assertion that the ICA had clear jurisdiction to hear this appeal, SWN nevertheless now requests that this Court assume jurisdiction over this appeal on the merits, which appeal arises from the same transaction and occurrence as the ICA Preemption Decision that is currently pending before this Court. To that end, on May 22, 2024, SWN filed a “Motion Requesting that the Supreme Court of Appeals Obtain Jurisdiction Over Appeal,” docketed at Case No. 24-288 (a copy of which is attached hereto as **Exhibit A**), which separately requests that this Court obtain jurisdiction over this appeal pursuant W. Va. Code § 51-11-4(b)(1) and Rule 1(b) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. Thus, although SWN asserts herein that the ICA did in fact have jurisdiction to hear this appeal, SWN respectfully requests that this Court now assume jurisdiction over the merits of the instant appeal at this juncture so that the two consolidated matters may be finally disposed of concurrently. Accordingly, SWN submits this Opening Brief, which addresses the merits of the underlying appeal.

the Board improperly found that SWN had failed to present adequate evidence to show compliance with the pertinent ordinance requirements, despite simultaneously violating SWN's due process rights by refusing to allow SWN to enter relevant evidence into the record. For the reasons set forth herein, the City's and Board's blatant and underhanded attempts to prevent SWN from exercising its lawful right to conduct drilling on its property was illegal and the Board Decision should be reversed.

II. Factual and Procedural Background

A. The Subject Property and Surrounding Area

SWN's proposed Brownlee Pad is situated upon a tract of land totaling 301.83 acres in the outskirts of the City, located off of Park Drive on property owned by Brownlee Land Ventures L.P. ("Subject Property"). (Appendix ("A.") 72). SWN is the lessee of record for the Subject Property under an Oil & Gas Lease ("Lease"). (A. 589-595). Pursuant to the Lease, SWN has the right to drill and for and produce oil and natural gas from the Subject Property. *Id.*; (A. 1192). The Subject Property consists of wooded and meadowed areas with an open relatively flat grass field at the site entrance. (A. 634). Portions of the Subject Property have been timbered in the recent past. *Id.* There are no streams or wetlands on the Subject Property. (A. 597-626).

The Brownlee Pad site entrance is located off Park Drive approximately 500 feet past the Rue 21 distribution center. (A. 597, 1192). The Brownlee Pad is located approximately 0.5 miles east of the entrance. (A. 17-18, 1192, 1830-31). The Rue 21 distribution center is a large-scale trucking facility with approximately 50 truck docks to accommodate the loading and unloading of tractor-trailers. There are regularly 20-25 tractor-trailers onsite at any given time. (A. 831, 1833-35). Directly across the Brownlee Pad entrance on the other side of Park Drive is a large parking lot owned by Rue 21 where tractor-trailer cargo containers are stored. The lot has the capacity to store more than 70 tractor-trailer cargo containers. (A. 831, 1745, 1834). There are two buildings

past the Brownlee Pad site entrance on Park Drive before it dead ends: Evergreen North America Industrial Services (“Evergreen Industrial”) and Pietro Fiorentini. (A. 831, 1836, 1221-34). A majority of Evergreen Industrial’s, Pietro Fiorentini’s and all of the other traffic on either side of the Brownlee Pad site entrance consists of 18-wheeler tractor-trailer traffic and other large commercial vehicles used to serve the oil and gas industry. *Id.* The Brownlee Pad sits approximately 150 feet lower than the other developments located on Park Drive. (A. 587, 829, 831, 1212-13).

B. The Proposed Brownlee Pad

The Brownlee Pad project will involve the construction and maintenance of an approximately 4.2 acre gravel well pad, a 1.6 acre auxiliary pad, stormwater best controls and an approximately 3,167 foot-long access road (“Access Road”). (A. 587, 628-637, 1208-1211). The disturbed area to construct the Brownlee Pad and Access Road is approximately 26.10 acres. (A. 597, 1611). The Brownlee Pad is designed to drill 14 gas wells. However, at this time, only three gas wells are proposed. (A. 1198-99).

The Brownlee Pad will be constructed with an underdrain system that will divert rainwater into two stormwater ponds. (A. 1556). Additionally, the underdrain system is designed to be fitted with valves to prevent water from leaving the well pad in the event of a spill or release of fluids derived from the drilling or stimulation of the oil/gas wells. *Id.* With the well site being lined, the appropriately designed and operated underdrain system in place and the use of secondary containment for many activities conducted on the Brownlee Pad will minimize any potential off-site soil or groundwater contamination threats. (A. 1556-57). The nearest occupied structure is a single-family residence located approximately 1,273 feet away. (A. 1851). The topography surrounding the Brownlee Pad consists of dense trees, open fields, ridges and valleys. (A. 587, 716).

C. SWN’s Conditional Use Application and New Unified Development Ordinance

On June 11, 2021, SWN filed the administratively complete Application for the Brownlee Pad pursuant to the terms of the City’s then existing UDO. (A. 585). Pursuant to the UDO, SWN’s proposed Brownlee Pad is an “Oil/Gas Extraction” use. *See* UDO § 9.6 (24); (A. 223). At the time the Application was filed, the Brownlee Pad was located within the City’s Planned Development District (“PDD”). “Oil/Gas Extraction” uses are permitted conditional uses in the PDD zoning district. *See* UDO § 9.6 (24); Table 1. The UDO contains only two objective standards for oil and gas extraction activities, as follows:

- a. No well may be located closer than two hundred (200) feet to any residential use.
- b. All oil and gas exploration shall be subject to the Oil and Gas Laws, Chapter Twenty-two, Article Four, of the Code of West Virginia, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the West Virginia Department of Environment Protection.

See UDO § 9.6(24); (A. 223).

On July 7, 2021, the City made effective a new Unified Development Ordinance (“New UDO”), which increased the setback requirements for drilling sites from 200 feet to 2,500 feet from any residential, church or school use, which effectively bans natural gas drilling within City’s borders because there is virtually no area in the City where such requirements can be met. (A. 76). In addition, the New UDO removed oil and gas extraction as a permitted conditional use from anywhere except industrial zoning districts, including removal from the PDD zoning district where the Brownlee Pad is located. However, despite the City’s best efforts to zone out the Brownlee Pad, SWN submitted its application prior to the UDO’s effective date.

D. The Board's Proceedings

1. The August 3, 2023 Hearing

On August 3, 2021, the Board conducted the first hearing on the Application. (A. 1179-1275).² SWN presented its case through Shawn Jackson, Operations Manager for SWN, Bob Laine, Land Manager for SWN, Brian Lantz, P.E., Civil & Environmental Consultants, Inc. ("CEC"), Jeff DePaolis, P.E., P.T.O.E., with CEC, and Bradley Webb, Vice President, Absolute Noise Control, LLC ("ANC"). (R. 1191-93, 1219).³

Mr. Jackson is an engineer who serves as the Operation Manager for SWN's Southwestern Appalachian Division. He oversees all of the phases in the oil and gas development process. (A. 1828). Mr. Jackson testified as to the nature of the drilling and production process. He explained that the process of developing oil and gas includes four distinct phases: (1) construction; (2) drilling; (3) completions; and (4) production. (A. 1193-1204). Next, Mr. Lantz testified that the Application complies with all the UDO's dimensional requirements, including lot width, lot

² Prior to presenting its first witness, SWN's counsel provided the Board with an exhibit book that contained the exhibits that SWN intended to present in support of the Application, which included a traffic impact study ("Traffic Study"). (A. 570-892). At the outset of the hearing, Mr. Vincent Gurrera, attorney for the City, objected to SWN's introduction of the Traffic Study on the grounds that it was not submitted with the Application, despite the fact that there is no application requirement that a traffic study be submitted. (A. 1188-89). Mr. Guerrera also claimed that the Application was incomplete because it did not include an application for timbering activities. (A. 1225-1226). SWN's counsel responded that the submission of a Traffic Study was not an application requirement. (A. 1188-89). SWN's counsel further responded that a separate zoning application for timbering activities was similarly not a zoning application requirement for an "Oil/Gas Extraction" use. (A. 1225-1226). SWN's counsel further explained if the City believed the site clearing activities required separate zoning approval that it would submit a separate application. (A. 1497).

³ SWN further submitted the following items into evidence: Conditional Use Application (Ex. A); Site Plan (Ex. B); Lease Agreement (Ex. C); Brownlee Pad Permit and Construction Drawings (Ex. D); Geotechnical Report (Ex. E); Rendering to Closet Residence (Ex. F); Photograph of Existing Producing Gas Wells (Ex. G); Post Construction Stormwater Management Report (Ex. H); Erosion and Sediment Control Calculations (Ex. I); Renderings of Proposed Well Pad; (Ex. J); Signage Photographs (Ex. K); Well Site Safety Plan (Ex. L); Site Plan Overhead View (Ex. M); Site Plan Overhead View Expanded (Ex. N); Rendering from Sunset Drive (Ex. O); Renderings from Comfort Inn (Ex. P.); Traffic Study (Ex. Q); Noise Study (Ex. R); and Decibel Scale (Ex. S). (A. 570-892).

coverage, setbacks and height. (A. 1207-08). Mr. Lantz further described the erosion and sediment plan and controls that will be installed on the Subject Property in connection with construction of the Brownlee Pad. (A. 733-765). He testified that a wetland delineation study was performed and that the Brownlee Pad was designed to avoid all streams and wetlands. (A. 1210-11). Mr. Lantz testified that it was his professional opinion that the Subject Property was an appropriate place for the Brownlee Pad. (App 1211).

Mr. Webb, SWN's noise expert, next testified as to the anticipated noise impacts of the proposed Brownlee Pad. He stated that he had evaluated the noise impacts associated with approximately 30 other SWN projects and was very familiar with all of the equipment to be used on site. (A. 1219). He explained that the UDO does not provide for any objective noise standards. (A. 1220). However, he stated that the Brooke County Noise Ordinance considers noise levels in excess of 65 decibels (dBA) to be a hazard to public health and safety. (A. 1220-21). He testified that the noise, without any mitigation measures, would be below the ambient background level. (A. 1223-24). Based on all project information provided by SWN and the analysis contained in his expert report, Mr. Webb testified that, within a reasonable degree of engineering certainty, it was his professional opinion that the proposed Brownlee Pad would comply with the noise regulations set forth in the Brooke County Noise Ordinance (A. 897). He further testified that the noise effects would be temporary and will be negligible after drilling and completions. *See* UDO § 3.6.3.1 (D): (A. 894-904).

Next, Mr. Laine testified as to lighting at the site and stated that halo lights would be used at the Brownlee Pad and be pointed downward, which will prevent light from bleeding outside of the Subject Property. (A. 1205). All lighting will be temporary and limited to the Subject Property. *Id.* All lighting will be directed away from adjacent properties and roadways. *Id.* Mr. Laine further

explained that SWN will provide site familiarization training to first responders if requested by the City. (A. 773-827,1206). In addition, a Well Site Safety Plan was submitted and will be applied on site to protect the public health and safety. *Id.*

With respect to the UDO's express "Oil/Gas Extraction" standards, Mr. Layne testified that all of the proposed wells were more than two hundred (200) feet from any residential use. *See* UDO §9.6 (24)(a); (A. 587). The center of the Brownlee Pad sits approximately 1,273 feet away from the nearest residence. (A. 716, 1851). Mr. Layne affirmed that SWN would comply with all applicable state regulations. *Id.* He further testified that SWN was in the process of completing the well permit process with the WVDEP for the three planned wells and would provide the City with copies of the same upon issuance. *Id.*⁴

Next, SWN presented the testimony of Mr. DePaolis, who is a registered professional engineer and a certified professional traffic and transportation operations engineer (P.T.O.E). (A. 1215). He testified as to the conclusions contained in the Traffic Study that he prepared. *Id.* Even though SWN intends to obtain rights-of-way to install a water pipeline to convey water to the site for hydraulic fracturing, Mr. DePaolis testified that the Traffic Study *assumed a worst-case scenario* where all water would need to be hauled to the site by truck, even though such a situation would be highly unlikely. (A. 838, 1217). He testified that trip generation data for a natural gas well pads is not included in the Institute of Transportation Engineers ("ITE") publication. (A. 1216). Therefore, the Traffic Study utilized specific data obtained from SWN's other actual well sites to develop anticipated peak hour site generated trips. (A. 838). Mr. DePaolis testified that he evaluated the three most proximate intersections. *Id.* He testified that, to a reasonable degree of traffic engineering certainty, the additional traffic generated by the Brownlee Pad during the

⁴ During the Evidentiary Hearing (discussed below) SWN subsequently submitted a copy of its WVDEP approved Well Work Permit to construct and drill the Brownlee Site. (A. 1606).

completions stage would not result in a degradation of level of surface for the affected intersections and that there would be “no significant traffic impact” associated with the Brownlee Pad. (A. 1218-19).

After SWN completed its case, various residents and politicians spoke both in favor and against the Application. Unlike the witnesses proffered by SWN, none of the objectors were experts in the fields in which they spoke to⁵ SWN repeatedly asserted objections during the public comment period, none of which were acknowledged by the Board. *See* (A. 1244) (hearsay and relevancy objections); (“We’re here to make a record right now.”); (A. 1245) (“I [assert] the same objection.”); (A. 1247) (standing, relevancy and hearsay objections). At the conclusion of the comment period, the City’s solicitor requested that the Board continue the hearing. The Board voted to continue the hearing until the Board’s next meeting in September. (A. 1272-73).⁶

2. The Board’s September 7, 2021 Hearing

At the second hearing on September 7, 2021, several more resident objectors spoke in opposition to the Application. (A. 1307-1326).⁷ Eric Frankovitch, on behalf of the Park Drive Development, provided the Board with a single-page letter from a Mr. Jamie Guida that opined

⁵ A.D. “Butch” Mastrantoni, Utilities Director of the Weirton Area Water Board and Weirton Sanitary Board (“Water Board”), spoke about his concerns that hydraulic fracturing from the proposed well site would have on the aquifer and watershed. He opined that the aquifer and watershed supplying ground water to the Water Board’s Ranney Well is in close proximity to the Brownlee Pad. *See* (A. 1226-28).

⁶ After the hearing, SWN filed a conditional use application for “Timbering,” which was related to the site clearing activities for the Brownlee Pad (“Timbering Application”). SWN requested that the Timbering Application be placed on the Board’s September 7, 2021 agenda with the continued Brownlee Pad Application since they were related. The City advised that it was unable to put the Timbering Application on the September 7, 2021 agenda. The City instead placed the Timbering Application on the Board’s October 5, 2021 agenda. (A. 1839-1830).

⁷ Messrs. DiBartolomeo, Bowman, Fracasso, Ed Zawatski, Ed W. Zawatski, and Ms. Barkley reiterated the same traffic, environmental, and economic development concerns and opinions as they did at the previous Hearing. *Id.* Other persons who made public comments to the Board included George Hvizdak, Eli Dragisich, Jeanne Czemek and Tom Zielinsky. *Id.*

that Brownlee Pad would negatively impact property values. (A. 1307).⁸ SWN objected to the comments and letter. *Id.* Again, the Board did not acknowledge any of SWN's objections. *Id.* ("I recognize this is public comment, but we [object to Mr. Jamie Guida's letter] on hearsay grounds."); (A. 1330-31) ("We're going to be hearing comment and testimony [from] somebody who's not qualified to speak to [such subjects]").

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