IN THE SUPREME COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA
No. 24-320

SCA EFiled: Aug 12 2024
11:03AM EDT
Transaction ID 74015044

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Petitioner Below, Petitioner,

v.

**CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS
and CITY OF WEIRTON,**

Respondents Below, Respondents.

**RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT
CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS**

Ryan P. Simonton (WVSB #11152)
rsimonton@kaycasto.com
Margaret E. Lewis (WVSB #10329)
mlewis@kaycasto.com

KAY CASTO & CHANEY, PLLC
150 Clay Street, Suite 100
Morgantown, WV 26505
Phone: (304) 225-0970

*Counsel for Respondent,
City of Weirton Board of Zoning Appeals*

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

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The issue directly before this Court is the ICA's dismissal of Petitioner's appeal of the Circuit Court's August 16, 2023 order denying Petitioner's Conditional Use Appeal and affirming the BZA's denial of Petitioner's application to the ICA for lack of jurisdiction. The ICA correctly dismissed the Petitioner's appeal as it does not hear appeals of extraordinary writs such as the Circuit Court's review by certiorari and the ICA did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's Protective Motion for Transfer of Case to the Supreme Court.

Despite the ICA's memorandum decision from which Petitioner appeals being limited to the ICA's jurisdiction to hear and decide the appeal of the Circuit Court's certiorari review of the BZA decision, Petitioner's brief lacks any discussion regarding the jurisdictional ruling issued by the ICA and is devoid of any case law or substantive explanation as to why the ICA erred. As

such, Petitioner has waived this issue, and the ICA's dismissal should not be considered on appeal. *Addair v. Bryant*, 168 W. Va. 306, 320, 284 S.E.2d 374, 383 (1981); *Birchfield v. Zen's Dev., LLC*, 245 W. Va. 82, 89, 857 S.E.2d 422, 429 (2021).

Petitioner presumes the Supreme Court will overlook the jurisdictional issues and address the merits of the Circuit Court's order, admitting that its opening brief is submitted to address the underlying appeal of the Circuit Court's order. *See*, Petitioner's Brief, pg. 2, fn.1 The five (5) assignments of error pertaining to the Circuit Court's Order should not be considered by this Court because the ICA's decision did not address the merits or questions of substantive law relative to the case. *See, Pettry v. Chesapeake & O. Ry. Co.*, 148 W. Va. 443, 446, 135 S.E.2d 729, 731 (1964)("It has been uniformly held by this Court that it will not consider questions nonjurisdictional in their nature not acted upon by the circuit court.")(internal citations omitted).

Respondent does not concede that review of the Circuit Court's order is before this Court. Assuming the Court reaches the merits of Petitioner's five assignments of errors to the Circuit Court's order, Petitioner cannot establish that the Circuit Court abused its discretion by upholding the BZA's considered decision. The denial of a conditional use permit is a discretionary act of the BZA applying the specific requirements of the UDO. Petitioner failed to establish compliance with the UDO requirements, and the BZA applied specific factual evidence from Petitioner's application, planning staff, and two public hearings to determine that Petitioner's proposed hydraulic fracturing wells did not meet the minimum requirements to obtain a CUP, concluding that the proposed use was different than any surrounding use, would harm current uses and development, and is not consistent with the Comprehensive Plan objectives for the Planned Development District. Nor can Petitioner establish violation of a procedural due process requirement for administrative zoning hearings when the BZA followed

the procedure established by law, held two public hearings at which Petitioner appeared and participated, and when the Circuit Court offered Petitioner an additional opportunity to submit testimony and evidence. Accordingly, Petitioner cannot meet its burden to prove an abuse of discretion by the Circuit Court and the Circuit Court decision should be affirmed.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

The issues presented have been thoroughly decided and oral argument is unnecessary pursuant to Rule 18(a)(3) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. The decision being appealed is based on the ICA's jurisdiction and applicable statutory law. There is no substantial question of law presented and disposition by memorandum decision affirming the ICA's decision is appropriate pursuant to Rule 21(c) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure. If this Court considers the circuit court's order, the question will be whether the circuit court abused its discretion when deciding to uphold the BZA's denial of the CUP. In accordance with Rule 18(a)(4) of the Rules of Appellate Procedure, the decisional process as to the Circuit Court's order would not be significantly aided by oral argument.

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

1. Review of ICA's Dismissal for Lack of Subject Matter Jurisdiction

Whether the ICA correctly interpreted *W. Va. Code* §§51-11-4(d)(10), 53-3-1 *et seq.*, and 8A-7-9, resulting in its determination that it lacked jurisdiction over Petitioner's appeal of the Circuit Court's Order on its petition for writ of certiorari is a question of law to which a *de novo* standard of review applies. *Holley v. Feagley*, 242 W. Va. 240, 242, 834 S.E.2d 536, 538 (2019).

2. Certiorari Review of Zoning Decisions²

Review of planning decisions is afforded by *W. Va. Code* § 8A-9-1 *et seq.* The Court conducts a limited review of the decisions of bodies charged with planning and zoning administration. *Corliss*, 214 W. Va. 535, 537, 591 S.E.2d 93, 95 (2003) Decisions contravening the limited scope of review and substituting judgment for the administrative bodies' will be reversed. *Id.* The decision of the Board administering the zoning ordinance is entitled to deference by the reviewing Court, and it is presumed that the Board acted correctly. Syl. Pt. 5, *Wolfe v. Forbes*, 159 W. Va. 34,217 S.E.2d 899 (1975); Syl. Pt. 1, *Corliss*, 214 W. Va. 535, 591 S.E.2d 93 (2003); Syl. Pt. 1, *Rissler v. Jefferson County Bd. Of Zoning Appeals*, 225 W. Va. 346,693 S.E.2d 321 (2010); Syl. Pt. 2, *Bd. of Zoning Appeals of the Town of Shepherdstown v. Tkacz*, 234 W. Va. 201, 764 S.E.2d 532 (2014). However, “a reviewing court should reverse the administrative decision where the board has applied an erroneous principle of law, was plainly wrong in its factual findings, or has acted beyond its jurisdiction.” *Id.* When considering challenges to planning and zoning codes, Courts avoid invalidating the codes in order to permit the decisions of the legislative body promulgating the codes to take effect. Courts are not disposed to declare a zoning ordinance invalid in whole or in part where it is fairly debatable as to whether an action of a municipality is arbitrary or unreasonable. *DeCoals, Inc. v. Board of Zoning Appeals of City of Westover*, 168 W.Va. 339, 284 S.E.2d 856 (1981).

3. Procedural Due Process Claims in Zoning Hearings

In the context of a local zoning decision, “due process requires a hearing before an impartial and neutral tribunal, over which a disinterested adjudicator presides.” *Rissler v. Jefferson County Bd. of Zoning Appeals*, 225 W. Va. 346, 693 S.E.2d 321 (2010). A reviewing

² In the event the Court addresses the assignments of error of the Circuit Court's Order, the remaining sections addresses the appropriate standard of review for that Order.

court may evaluate the sufficiency of notice and the hearing in administrative decisions generally by consideration of three factors: (1) the plaintiff's property interest affected by the government action; (2) the risk of an erroneous deprivation of a property interest and the value of any additional or substitute procedural safeguards; and (3) the government's interests, including the function involved and the fiscal and administrative burdens that the additional or substitute procedural requirements would entail. *Mathews v. Eldridge*, 424 U.S. 319, 335 (1976).

Local zoning hearings are less formal than court proceedings, and the local body is not required to allow the landowner to directly cross-examine witnesses. Allowing the landowner to present an opposing viewpoint is typically sufficient. *G&H Dev., LLC v. Benton-Parish Metro Planning Comm'n*, 641 F. App'x 354, 357-8 (5th Cir. 2016). Plaintiffs claiming denial of due process based on insufficient duration of the hearing must be able to identify the additional evidence they would have presented with extra time and demonstrate that it would have affected the outcome of the decision. *See Club Moulin Rouge LLC v. City of Huntington Beach*, 2005 WL 5517234, at *8 (C.D. Cal. June 22, 2005); *Nance v. City of Albemarle, North Carolina*, 520 F.Supp.3d 758 (4th Cir. 2021); *Hyatt v. Town of Lake Lure*, 114 Fed. Appx. 72 (4th Cir. 2004) (unpublished).

“Due process of law generally requires that a deprivation of property ‘be preceded by notice and opportunity for hearing appropriate to the nature of the case.’” *Tri-County Paving v Ashe County*, 281 F.3d 430, 436 (2002) (quoting *Mullane v. Cent. Hanover Bank & Tr. Co.*, 339 U.S. 306, 313, 70 S.Ct. 652, 94 L.Ed. 865 (1950)). “However, ‘to determine whether a procedural due process violation has occurred, courts must consult the entire panoply of predeprivation and postdeprivation process provided by the state.’” *Id.* (quoting *Fields v. Durham*, 909 F.2d 94, 97 (4th Cir. 1990)). “The procedures due in zoning cases, and by analogy due in cases such as this one involving regulation of land use through general police powers, are

not extensive.” *Nance v. City of Albemarle, N. Carolina*, 520 F. Supp. 3d 758, 790 (M.D.N.C. 2021).

B. The Petitioner Has Waived The Jurisdictional Ruling Of the ICA By Failing to Address the Issue in Its Opening Brief. As Such, The ICA Decision Must Be Affirmed.

Aside from identifying the ICA’s denial of Petitioner’s appeal for lack of subject matter jurisdiction as assignment of error no. 6 and a footnote in which Petitioner’s “*Motion to the Supreme Court of Appeals to Obtain Jurisdiction Over Appeal Filed in the Intermediate Court of Appeals*” is attached as Exhibit A, Petitioner’s brief does not address the jurisdictional ruling and decision issued by the ICA, from which it seeks relief.³ Rule 10(c)(7) of the Appellate Rules of Procedure require Petitioner’s brief to “contain an argument clearly exhibiting the points of fact and law presented, the standard of review applicable, and citing the authorities relied on, under headings that correspond with the assignments of error.” W.Va. R. App. 10(c)(7). Petitioner has an obligation to “plead and prove his case in accordance with established court rules.” *State, Dep’t of Health v. Robert Morris N.*, 195 W. Va. 759, 765, 466 S.E.2d 827, 833 (1995).

Attaching a motion as an exhibit in which the jurisdictional issues are mentioned does not meet the bare minimum requirements of West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 10(c)(7). “Judges are not like pigs, hunting for truffles buried in briefs.” *Dep’t of Health*, 195 W. Va. at 765, 466 S.E.2d at 833. Likewise, Respondent should neither have to hunt for truffles through Petitioner’s brief to identify the argument addressing the jurisdictional assignments of error it seeks to raise nor be required to respond to issues not addressed in Petitioner’s Opening Brief. This Court has long held that “[a]ssignments of error that are not argued in briefs on appeal maybe deemed by this Court to be waived.” *Addair v. Bryant*, 168 W. Va. 306, 320, 284

³ Respondent will respond separately to Petitioner’s Motion Requesting the SCA obtain Jurisdiction over the appeal.

S.E.2d 374, 383 (1981); See also, *Birchfield*, 245 W.Va. at 94, 857 S.E.2d at 43. Appellate Rule 10(7) mirrors the case law and provides further authority for the Court to disregard Petitioner's assignments of errors not adequately supported by specific references to the record on appeal. W.Va. R. App. 10(c)(7).

Because Petitioner's brief fails to include any authority, argument, or analysis of the ICA's jurisdiction to hear Petitioner's appeal of the Circuit Court's Order denying Petitioner's CUP application and upholding the BZA's decision, the subject of the ICA's memorandum decision to which Petitioner appealed, the Petitioner has waived this issue and the ICA's decision should be affirmed.

C. The ICA Correctly Determined that it Did Not Have Jurisdiction Over Petitioner's Appeal and Properly Refused Petitioner's Motion to Transfer

Even assuming Petitioner has not waived the jurisdictional issues by failing to address the same in its brief, the ICA correctly found it did not have jurisdiction of Petitioner's appeal. For the ICA to be able to hear and determine Petitioner's appeal of the Circuit Court's order, it must have jurisdiction of the subject matter. The absence of subject matter jurisdiction is fatal to the ICA's jurisdiction to determine the appeal. Syl. Pt. 4. *State ex rel. Dale v. Stucky*, 232 W. Va. 299, 752 S.E.2d 330, 332 (2013). The ICA did not have the jurisdiction to hear Petitioner's appeal pursuant to *W. Va. Code* §§51-11-4(d)(10), 53-3-1 *et seq.*, and 8A-7-9, and accordingly the appeal was properly dismissed. The ICA's dismissal of Petitioner's appeal was consistent with its prior decision dismissing another appeal of a similar issue for lack of jurisdiction. *See, Huntington Realty Corporation v. City of Huntington Board of Zoning Appeals et al.*, No. 22-ICA-239 (October 23, 2023).

Fundamentally, "jurisdiction of the subject-matter can only be acquired by virtue of the constitution or of some statute." *Stucky*, 232 W.Va. at 303-4, 752 S.E.2d at 334-36. West

Virginia Code §51-11-4(b)(1)-(7) defines the specific matters over which the ICA has jurisdiction. Specifically excluded from the ICA's jurisdiction are appeals involving "[e]xtraordinary remedies, as provided in § 53-1-1 *et seq.* of this code, and any appeal of a decision or order of another court regarding an extraordinary remedy[.]" *W. Va. Code* § 51-11-4(d)(10). This statute is clear and unambiguous and consistent with West Virginia Rule of Appellate Procedure 1, which also excludes from the ICA's jurisdiction "Extraordinary remedies and the appeal of any extraordinary remedy, including in *habeas corpus*." The decision Petitioner appealed to the ICA was an order regarding an extraordinary remedy. Certiorari is among the extraordinary remedies defined by *W. Va. Code* §§ 53-1-1 *et seq.*, specifically governed by *W. Va. Code* §§ 53-3-1 *et seq.* "Certiorari 'is an extraordinary remedy, used in cases where there has been an error in justice, which cannot be reviewed and corrected by the ordinary forms of procedure.'" *Foster Foundation v. Gainer*, 228 W. Va. 99, 104, 717 S.E.2d 883, 888 (2011) (*quoting Ashworth v. Hatcher*, 98 W.Va. 323, 325, 128 S.E. 93, 94 (1924)).

The jurisdictional limitation of *W.Va. Code* §51-11-4(d)(10) is further consistent with the Land Use Planning Act and *W. Va. Code* §8A-9-7, entitled "Appeal from final judgment of circuit court or judge," which provides, "An appeal may be taken to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals from the final judgment of the court or judge reversing, affirming or modifying the decision or order of the ... board of zoning appeals" *Id.* Petitioner's assertion that the appeal process for review of certiorari under the Land Use Planning Act is somehow distinct from obtaining a writ of certiorari under the Extraordinary Remedies Act is nonsensical and there is no source for such a claim. According to Petitioner's position, when the Circuit Court reviews a land use decision, its decision to do so can only be reviewed by the SCA, but the Circuit Court's decision based on its review by certiorari is outside the jurisdiction of the ICA. This is

inconsistent with W.Va. Code § 8A-9-7 which specifically provides that the decision of the court affirming the decision of a board of zoning appeals may be taken to the SCA and inconsistent with W.Va. Code §55-11-4(d)(10) that also excludes “any appeal of a decision or order of another court regarding an extraordinary remedy.”

The legislature recently amended *W.Va. Code* § 51-11-4(d)(10) to specify that the writ of certiorari as well as writ of prohibition, writ of mandamus, quo warranto, habeas corpus, special receivers and arrest in civil cases are excluded from the ICA’s jurisdiction. These are the same extraordinary remedies identified in *W.Va. Code* § 53-1-1, *et seq.* The legislature just spelled out the extraordinary remedies rather than generally referring to the statute. The amendment did nothing to change or alter the ICA’s jurisdiction.

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